
City of Bethel 
         P.O. Box 1388 

    Bethel, Alaska 99559 

      Phone: 907- 543-2047 

         Fax: 907-543-3781 

Regular City Council Meeting 

Tuesday, April 10, 2018 

    6:30 P.M. 

Council Chambers; Bethel, Alaska 



Agenda posted on April 4, 2018 at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office.  

_________________________     
Kevin Morgan, Asst. City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing April 24, 2018. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
April 10, 2018 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

Rick Robb 
Mayor 
Term Expires 2018 
rrobb@cityofbethel.net 

Fred Watson 
Vice-Mayor 
Term Expires 2018 
fwatson@cityofbethel.net 

Leif Albertson 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2019 
lalbertson@cityofbethel.net  

Mark Springer 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2018 
msprigner@cityofbethel.net  

Naim Shabani 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2019 
nshabani@cityofbethel.net 

Thor Williams 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2019 
twilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Mitchell Forbes  
Council Member  
Term Expires 2019 
mforbes@cityofbethel.net 

Pete Williams 
City Manager 
543-2047 
pwilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Lori Strickler 
City Clerk 
543-1384 
lstrickler@cityofbethel.net  

Patty Burley 
City Attorney 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

III. ROLL CALL

IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD – Five minutes per person

V. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA AND REGULAR AGENDA

VI. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES

a) *3-27-2018 Regular Meeting Minutes 

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEE

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS

IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

a) Public Hearing Of Ordinance 16-25: Amending Bethel Municipal Code Chapter
13.08.300 Individual Sewer System Concerning The Inclusion Of Composting And
Incinerating Toilets (Energy Committee) –Referred to Committee In 2016-

b) AM 18-25: Directing The City Manager To Invite The Alaska Commercial Company To
A Meeting With Administration To Discuss The Concerns Raised In Council’s
Resolution 18-03 And Alaska Commercial Company’s Plan To Address Those Concerns
(Mayor Robb)

X. NEW BUSINESS

a) *Introduction of Ordinance 18-08: Amending Chapter 2.52.025 Of The Bethel 
Municipal Code, Committees To Combine The Energy Committee With The Public 
Works Committee And Redefining Duties Of The Newly Revised Committee (Council 
Member Springer) 

b) *Introduction of Budget Ordinance 17-28(k): Amending the Adopted Annual FY 2018 
Budget-Streets and Roads- Sewer Lagoon- Police Department- E 911 Fund (City 
Manager Williams) 

c) *Resolution 18-08: Adoption Of The City Of Bethel Local Hazards Mitigation Plan 
Update, August 2017 (City Manager Williams) 

d) *Resolution 18-09: Support For SFY 2018 Community Revenue Sharing Program 
Funding (City Manager Williams) 

e) *Resolution 18-10: Support For SFY 2019 Community Revenue Sharing Program 
Funding (City Manager Williams) 

f) AM 18-28: Direct The City Administration To Prepare A Request For Proposal For The
Purchase And Installation Of Playground Equipment At Owl Park For The Amount Of
Money Provided By AVCP RHA To Restore The Park (PRAHS Committee)

p.5

p.38

p.41

p.48

p.52

p.54

p.56

p.58

p.57

mailto:rrobb@cityofbethel.net
mailto:fwatson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lalbertson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:msprigner@cityofbethel.net
mailto:nshabani@cityofbethel.net
mailto:twilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:mforbes@cityofbethel.net
mailto:pwilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lstrickler@cityofbethel.net


Agenda posted on April 4, 2018 at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office.  

_________________________     
Kevin Morgan, Asst. City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing April 24, 2018. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
April 10, 2018 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

g) AM 18-29: Direct The City Administration To Obtain A Quote For The Facilitation Of
Renting A Large Wood Chipper To Chip The Fallen Trees In Pinky’s Park (PRAHS
Committee)

h) *AM 18-30: Authorizing Administrative Leave For The City Clerk To Attend The 
Election Policy Working Group’s May 8 And 9, 2018 Meeting (Mayor Robb) 

i) Capital Improvement Plan City of Bethel FY 2019 – FY 2023 (City Manager Williams)

j) *Personal Leave Request For The City Clerk May 3rd and 4th (Mayor Robb) 

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT
XII. MANAGER’S REPORTS

XIII. CLERK’S REPORT

XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS

XV. EXECUTIVE SESSION

a) In Accordance With AS 44.62.310(c)2: Subjects That Tend To Prejudice The
Reputation And Character Of Any Person, Provided The Person May Request A Public
Discussion - Evaluation, City Clerk (Mayor Robb)

b) In Accordance With AS 44.62.310(c)1: Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of Which
Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public Entity- Union
Negotiations (City Manager Williams)

XVI. ADJOURNMENT

p.59

p.60
p.61



 

Approval of the Meeting Minutes 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 



1 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  March 27, 2018 

Regular Meeting 
March 27, 2018 

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER   

 
A Regular Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on March 27, 2018 at 6:30 p.m., 
in the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Richard Robb called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 

 
IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD   

 
Louise Russell- Member of the Community Action Grant Technical Review Board- 
provided an update of the granting process for the Technical Review Board. 
Encouraged the Council to pass Action Memorandum 18-24.   
 
David E. Trantham- He is a very concerned member of the community. Believes there 
has been serious violation of the Bethel Municipal Code and Title 29. The City Council 
has a responsibility to ensure violations do not occur.  
 

          City Council Meeting  
       City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Mayor Rick Robb Council Member Mark Springer (arrived at 6:34 p.m.) 

Council Member Leif Albertson Council Member Mitchell Forbes   

Council Member Thor Williams (participated 
telephonically) 

 

Members Absent:   

Vice-Mayor Fred Watson Council Member Naim Shabani 

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Manager Pete Williams City Clerk Lori Strickler 

City Attorney Patty Burley  



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  March 27, 2018 

Mary Nanuwak- Thanked the Council for providing her an opportunity to bring up 
difficult topics like child abuse and drug and alcohol addiction. It is too bad the City 
decided to have marijuana and alcohol as a way to make money.  
Benjamin Charles- Spoke in favor of Resolution 18-07, and the appointment of a 
council member to the Yupiit Piciryarait Museum Advisory Committee.  
 
 

V. APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AND REGULAR AGENDA 
 

Main Motion: Approve the Consent and Regular Agenda.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Springer 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Removal from 

Consent: Resolution 18-07 and Ordinance 18-07.   

Moved by: Albertson 

 
Removal from 

Consent: IM 18-05.    

Moved by: Williams 

 
 

VI. APPROVAL OF THE MEETING MINUTES 
 
Item A – 3-13-2018 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 
 

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
 

Public Safety and Transportation Commission – No one available to provide a report.  
 
Port Commission – A quorum of the body was not met, a meeting was not held.  
 
Planning Commission – A meeting has not been held since the last City Council 
Meeting.  
 
Parks, Recreation, Aquatic Health and Safety Center Committee – A 
community forum was held last Monday about the Kasayuli park development.  A 
couple that owns property near the Kasayuli park development, donated an acre of 
land for park development. 



3 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  March 27, 2018 

 
Finance Committee – Elected a new Chair, Cecilia Franko, and Vice-Chair, Brian M. 
Henry. The Finance Director provided an update on the audit and budgeting process. 
The committee also discussed council Ordinance 18-02.  
 
Energy Committee - A meeting has not been held since the last City Council 
meeting, the Committee does not have enough members to hold a meeting.  
  
Public Works Committee -A meeting has not been held since the last City Council 
meeting, the Committee does not have enough members to hold a meeting. 
 
Community Action Grant Technical Review Board- The Committee presented 
the Council with AM 18-24.  
 
Kuimarvik- Held a meeting last week, the history of the body was discussed, as well 
as a discussion of moving forward with Phase Two development at the pool.  
 
 

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
Item A –Health Fitness Monthly Report.  

 
IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

Item A – Public Hearing Of Budget Ordinance 17-28(j): Amending The Adopted 
Annual FY 2018 Budget-Change To Water And Sewer Fund- Moving Alcohol Tax 
Revenue To Community Action Grant Fund. 

Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
 

Mary Nanuwak- Provided a statement of concern that the bus stops are located next 
to dumpsters and gas tanks. The kids go around those trashy things, this isn’t safe. 
The Council should consider more health and safety issues. The Council could use 

some of the alcohol tax money to pay for fixing some health and safety issues. ONC is 
supposed to be taking care of elders, but ONC isn’t doing anything. Some of the 

alcohol money should be used to help the elders socialize.  
 

Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing. 
 

Main Motion: Adopt Budget Ordinance 17-28(j). 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 



4 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  March 27, 2018 

 

Primary 

Amendment: 

Strike the reference to line item increase for 51-81-669 in the amount of $3,850.  

Insert a Line item decrease for 51-85-563, Hauled Sewer Heating Fuel in the amount 
of $5,500.  

Strike the reference to line item decreases for 51-10-100 in the amount of $9,350.    

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Springer 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 

Item B – AM 18-20: Authorizing The City Manager To Negotiate And Execute A 
Contract Amendment To The Professional Services Agreement With Carmen Jackson 
CPA Originally Executed On January 19, 2016. 

 
Main Motion: A motion to Approve AM 18-20 was made on March 13, 2018. 

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Springer 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-1 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Forbes 

Opposed:  Williams   

 
Item C – IM 18-03: Report To City Council, Pursuant To BMC 4.20.180 That The City 
Utilized An Emergency Procurement For A Lift Station Facility Failure. 
 

X. NEW BUSINESS 
 

Item A – Introduction Of Ordinance 18-07: Amending Section 13.16.150(A) Of The 
Bethel Municipal Code, Solid Waste Collection, To Amend The Commercial Dumpster 
Rates And Adding A Six-Yard Dumpster. 

 
Main Motion: Introduce Ordinance 18-07. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Postponed Indefinitely   

 
Subsidiary Motion: Postpone Indefinitely 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 



5 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  March 27, 2018 

Item B – Resolution 18-07: Authorizing The City Council’s Involvement In Association 
Of Village Council Presidents Yupiit Piciryarait Museum Advisory Committee And 
Appointment Of A Council Member To Yupiit Piciryarait Museum Advisory Committee. 

 

Main Motion: Adopt Resolution 18-07. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Primary 

Amendment: Amend to strike the third whereas statement.  

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Albertson  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
i. Appointment of Council Member to Yupiit Piciryarait Museum Advisory 

Committee. 
 

Mayor Robb appointed Council Member Mark Springer to the Yupiit 
Piciryarait Museum Advisory Committee.  
 
Council Concurred.  
 

Item C – AM 18-23: Authorize And Approve City Administration To Sign A 
Construction Contract With Company X In The Amount Of $1,389,850 To Repair The 
Existing Sewer Lagoon Jetty. 
 

Main Motion: Approve AM 18-23. 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 

Item D – AM 18-24: Authorize And Approve City Administration To Issue Checks To 
Four Quarter 1 Community Action Grant Awardees Based On The Community Action 
Grant Committee’s Work On Scoring Applications And Deciding How To Divvy Up The 
Funds Available. 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 18-24. 



6 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  March 27, 2018 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 

Item E – AM 18-25: Directing The City Manager To Invite The Alaska Commercial 
Company To A Meeting With Administration To Discuss The Concerns Raised In 
Council’s Resolution 18-03 And Alaska Commercial Company’s Plan To Address Those 
Concerns. 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 18-25. 

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Springer 
Action: Postponed 

 
Subsidiary Motion: Postponed until the next regular meeting.  

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-1 

In favor:  Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  Robb   

 
Council took a ten-minute break.  
 
Item F – AM 18-26: Authorizing The City Manager To Negotiate And Execute A Lease 
Agreement With Community Leasing Partners For A 15 Year Lease To Own Agreement 
To Purchase The Hughes Ladder Truck Approved During The March 13, 2018 City 
Council Meeting. 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 18-26. 

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
 
Item G – AM 18-27: Direct Administration To Prepare And Submit The FY 2019 Grant 
Application In The Amount Of $323,081 To The Alaska Department Of Health And 
Social Services To Fund The Bethel Community Service Patrol Program. 
 

Main Motion: Approve AM 18-27. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Albertson 



7 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  March 27, 2018 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 

Item H – IM 18-04: Monthly Financial Report to Council. 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 
Item I – IM 18-05: Capital Improvement Project List For FY 2019 Budget 
Consideration.  
 

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT 
XII. MANAGER’S REPORT 
XIII. CLERK’S REPORT 
XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 

 
Mayor Richard Robb– Be safe out there as the weather changes.  
 
Council Member Leif Albertson –Wanted to provide awareness that there is an EMT 3 
training going on at the Fire Department.  
The roads are getting bad, everyone should slow down on the roads, and be safe.  
 
Council Member Mark Springer– Encouraged the public to be careful while traveling, 
the snow is melting. Commended everyone who participated the Nationwide March for 
our lives demonstration.  
Appreciated AC Quickstop for closing on Sunday.   
 
Council Member Thor Williams– We really need to get on the State for allowing the 
State Roads to get to this point. This is a public safety issue, putting our community in 
danger. The City should not be responsible for maintaining the State roads.  
 
Council Member Mitchell Forbes–Thanked everyone in Bethel who helped make 
another successful Camai happen. This is a great example of the Community of Bethel 
putting together an event that we all value.  
Encouraged people to be careful in driving.  
 

XV. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

XVI. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Main Motion: Adjournment. 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-0 



8 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  March 27, 2018 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
 

 
 
Council adjourned at 9:08 p.m. 
 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk   



 

Reports of Standing Committees  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13



Received by: _____________________ 
        Date: _____________________  

 

 

 

Committee/Commission: Parks, Recreation, Aquatic 
Health & Safety Center 
Committee 

Chairman: M. DeWitt 

Date Submitted: 03/24/18 Council Rep: M. Forbes 
    

Issue:  

Dedicated “Pool” Fund 

 

 Recommendation: At the March 12 committee meeting, the committee voted to recommend that 

the City Council direct administration to establish a process to review all transfers from the dedicated 

pool fund to the pool operations budget. The review is intended to ensure coding is appropriate 

before funds are transferred. 

Perhaps Council would review the transactions that justify the transfer, perhaps Council would request the committee to look 
at them and send them to Council- the PRAHSC committee advises a  process of this type prior to transferring monies. 

Reason: Prior research on other projects led to committee members’  realization of many coding errors within the City 
accounting system. 

Given that the voters self-imposed an increase in sales tax to help fund this facility, we feel it is particularly important that  

we are monitoring the allocations of any costs that necessitate a transfer and ensure that the expenses are actually correctly 
coded to the YKFC. 

 

 

Passed unanimously by the Parks/Rec/Aquatic Center Committee on March 14, 2016. 
 

  

CCiittyy  ooff  BBeetthheell  
CCoommmmiitttteeeess  aanndd  CCoommmmiissssiioonnss  

 

RReeccoommmmeennddaattiioonn  ttoo  CCiittyy  CCoouunncciill  
Committees and Commissions that wish to make a recommendation to City Council should turn this 

form in to the City Clerk or to the City Council representative on the committee or commission. 

14



Received by: _____________________ 
        Date: _____________________  

 

 

 

Committee/Commission: Parks, Recreation, Aquatic 
Health & Safety Center 
Committee 

Chairman: M. DeWitt 

Date Submitted: 03/24/18 Council Rep: M. Forbes 
    

Issue:  

Recreational Services 

 

 Recommendation: that City Council direct Administration to create an RFP to hire a 

company to provide a Recreational Services Scope of Work services described in handout 

(recreational services) or amend an existing contract for the scope of work to be applied. 

 

Reason: Committee reviewed the Parks/Rec budget from 2012-2018, and it is currently at an all-time low. 

There are a number of activities a city of our size should be offering, and typically offering through the city itself.  

Given the reduction in dedicated staffing for parks/rec through the last several years, the committee believes that filling the 
recreational needs of the community are not achievable with existing staff. The committee conducted research, and for an 
estimated $135,450 in the form of a contract, that contractor could provide a special event on a monthly basis (Fourth of July, 
Bike Rodeo, Festivals, etc.), provide field and open gym management, equipment checkout services (the City already owns 
substantial equipment) and volunteer coordination and support (coaches, etc.). 

Even with this investment, the Parks/Rec budget would be at a historical low (though the combination of Parks/Rec budget 
line items with Public Works line items makes this now difficuilt to track). 

 

Please note that an attachment follows this recommendation. 

 

Passed unanimously by the Parks/Rec/Aquatic Center Committee on March 24, 2018. 
 

  

CCiittyy  ooff  BBeetthheell  
CCoommmmiitttteeeess  aanndd  CCoommmmiissssiioonnss  

 

RReeccoommmmeennddaattiioonn  ttoo  CCiittyy  CCoouunncciill  
Committees and Commissions that wish to make a recommendation to City Council should turn this 

form in to the City Clerk or to the City Council representative on the committee or commission. 

15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



 

Special Order of Business 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

36



 

Unfinished Business  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

37



Introduced by: Energy Committee 
Date: August 23, 2016 

Public Hearing:  September 13, 2016 
September 27, 2016 

Action: Referd to Committee  

Public Hearing April 10, 2018 
Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Ordinance #16-25 

    1 of 3  

 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 
 
 

Ordinance # 16-25  
 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING BETHEL MUNICIPAL CODE 

CHAPTER 13.08.300 INDIVIDUAL SEWER SYSTEM CONCERNING THE 
INCLUSION OF COMPOSTING AND INCINERATING TOILETS 

 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Bethel is committed to reducing its energy use and reducing 
the costs associated with that use; 

WHEREAS, City water production and distribution and sewage collection and 
treatment is expensive; 

WHEREAS, permitting the installation and use of composting and/or incinerating 
toilets has no negative financial impact on the City of Bethel; 

WHEREAS, permitting the installation and use of composting and/or incinerating 
toilets will reduce water use and sewage production; 

WHEREAS, permitting the installation and use of composting and/or incinerating 
toilets has the potential to provide financial and water savings to property 
owners; 

WHEREAS, composting and incinerating toilets are proven technologies with decades 
of safe, effective use in other municipalities in the United States and 
around the world.  

 
THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Bethel City Council that: 
 
Section 1. Classification. This ordinance is of a general and permanent nature and 
shall become part of the Bethel Municipal Code. 
 
Section 2.  Amendment. Chapter 13.08.310, Composting and Incinerating Toilets of 
the Bethel Municipal Code titled Individual Sewer System is hereby inserted to read as 
follows: 

38



Introduced by: Energy Committee 
Date: August 23, 2016 

Public Hearing:  September 13, 2016 
September 27, 2016 

Action: Referd to Committee  

Public Hearing April 10, 2018 
Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Ordinance #16-25 

    2 of 3  

  
13.08.290 Unlawful sewage disposal. 

It is unlawful for a person to dispose of sewage, liquid waste or human excreta from 
any premises by any method other than through a composting or incinerating toilet or 
utilization of the city sewer service or its appointed designee.  
 
13.08.300 Individual sewer system.  

It is unlawful for any person to operate or maintain an individual disposal system, 
without a state wastewater discharge permit, unless the individual disposal system is a 
composting or incinerating toilet, 18 AAC 72.010. All composting or incinerating toilets 
must meet the following conditions: 

1. Composting toilets utilize a waterless toilet in conjunction with a tank in which 
aerobic bacteria break down the waste. Incinerating toilets burn human 
waste. Composting and incinerating toilets must conform to NSF/ANSI 
Standard 41.  

2. In restrooms accessible to employees or the public, a permanent placard must 
be installed on the wall immediately adjacent composting and or incinerating 
toilets. The bottom edge of the placard must be between 35” and 48” above 
the floor. The placard will state that a composting toilet is present and 
provide instructions for its use. Lettering on the placard will be no less than 
1⁄4” in height and easy to read.  

3. When restrooms are required to be accessible, composting and/or incinerating 
toilets in those rest rooms must also meet all accessibility requirements. 

4. When composting or incinerating toilets are installed in a residence, 
permanent use and maintenance instructions must be provided to subsequent 
owners or 

tenants. The property owner is responsible for providing training to tenants in 
the proper use and care of composting or incinerating toilets.  

5. Notice that the building contains composting and or incinerating toilets must 
be recorded in the permanent property record.  

 

13.08.310, Composting and Incinerating Toilets  

All composting or incinerating toilets must meet the following conditions: 

1. Composting toilets utilize a waterless toilet in conjunction with a tank in which 

aerobic bacteria break down the waste. Incinerating toilets burn human waste.  

39

http://www.legis.state.ak.us/basis/aac.asp#18
http://www.legis.state.ak.us/basis/aac.asp#18.72.010


Introduced by: Energy Committee 
Date: August 23, 2016 

Public Hearing:  September 13, 2016 
September 27, 2016 

Action: Referd to Committee  

Public Hearing April 10, 2018 
Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Ordinance #16-25 

    3 of 3  

2. Design, construction, installation and maintenance of Composting Toilets must 

meet the requirements of ANSI/NSF Standard 41.  

3. Only compost that meets ANSI/NSF Standards may be placed on the landowner’s 

property. Disposal may not occur at any other location.  

4. Design, construction, installation and maintenance of gas-fired Incinerating Toilets 

must meet ANSI Z21.61 standards.  

5. Design, construction, installation and maintenance of gas-fired Incinerating Toilets 

must meet NSF Standards.  

6. All liquid from an Incinerating Toilet must be disposed of in the home’s sewage 

tank.  

7. In restrooms accessible to employees or the public, a permanent placard must be 

installed on the wall immediately adjacent composting and or incinerating toilets. The 

bottom edge of the placard must be between 35” and 48” above the floor. The 

placard will state that a composting toilet is present and provide instructions for its 

use. Lettering on the placard will be no less than 1/4?” in height and easy to read.  

8. When restrooms are required to be accessible, composting and/or incinerating 

toilets in those rest rooms must also meet all accessibility requirements.  

9.When composting or incinerating toilets are installed in a residence, permanent use 

and maintenance instructions must be provided to subsequent owners or tenants. The 

property owner is responsible for providing training to tenants in the proper use and 

care of composting or incinerating toilets.  

10Notice tat the building contains composting and or incinerating toilets must be 

recorded in the permanent property record.” 

 
 

40



1  

City of Bethel Action Memorandum 
 

 

Action Title:  Directing the City Manager to invite the Alaska Commercial Company to a meeting with 
Administration to discuss the concerns raised in Council’s Resolution 18-03 and Alaska Commercial 
Company’s plan to address those concerns. 
 
Attachment(s):  Resolution 18-03 and Resolution 18-01.  
 
 

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

City Attorney   

 City Manager  
 

 

Amount of fiscal impact:  Account information: 

X No fiscal impact at this time.  

 
Summary Statement 
 
On February 26, the Alaska Commercial Company (AC) submitted a written request for the Council 
to meet with them in a work session to formulate ideas that proactively address concerns 
regarding alcohol in Bethel and the surrounding communities.  
 

The City Council recognizes the importance of collaborative efforts in addressing  concerns on the 
impact of alcohol to Bethel and the Region, which is why in January the Council established an 
Alcohol Task Force through Resolution 18-01. The goal of the Task Force, consisting of community 
and regional organizations, is to collaboratively address problematic alcohol use both locally and in 
the surrounding area with the goal of finding a workable long-term solution. The City recognizes the 
importance of Alaska Commercial Company’s participation in this Task Force and will ensure their 
representative is informed of the meeting times and locations once those are identified.  
 
Considering community/regional alcohol issues will be addressed collaboratively by the Task Force  
the Council in addition directs Administration to invite AC to a discussion about the issues identified 
in Resolution 18-03, A Resolution Protesting the Renewal of the AC Quickstop’s Package Store 
License.  The issues addressed by Council in Resolution 18-03 were specific to AC and if AC is willing, 
then Administration is to meet with AC to determine if reasonable mitigation efforts can be 
developed.  
 
   
 
 
 

Action memorandum No. 18-25 

Date action introduced:  March 27, 2018 Introduced by: Mayor Robb 

Date action taken:      Approved         Denied 

Confirmed by:  

41



42



43



44



45



46



 

New Business   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

47



Introduced by: Council Member Springer 
 Introduction Date April 10, 2018 

Public Hearing:  
Action:   

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-08 

  Page 1 of 4 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance #18-08 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2.52.025 OF THE BETHEL MUNICIPAL 
CODE, COMMITTEES TO COMBINE THE ENERGY COMMITTEE WITH THE 
PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE AND REDEFINING DUTIES OF THE NEWLY 

REVISED COMMITTEE 
 
WHEREAS, the Public Works Committee and the Energy Committee (created under 
Ordinance 10-12) have both had a difficult time holding a meeting because of a 
continued lack of a quorum or their membership levels have been too low to establish a 
quorum; 
 
WHEREAS, integrating the members and the duties into the Public Works Committee 
would create an effective solution to the issue faced by both bodies while maintaining 
like interests amongst the group;  
 
WHEREAS, in an effort to ensure the goals of both bodies are continued and considered 
regularly, an integration of the duties and the members to form one body by eliminating 
the Energy Committee; 
 
WHEREAS, the Public Works Committee will continue as an advisory body to the Bethel 
City Council providing recommendations on the following:  

 Planning for maintenance, repairs and remodeling of all City-owned facilities to 

include streets, parks, drainage, water and sewer, boardwalks and city buildings. 

 Recommend repairs of City-owned facilities to be included in the following year’s 
budget. 

 Consult and cooperate with Port Commission, Parks, Recreation, Aquatic health and 
safety Center Committee, Planning Commission and any other overlapping City 
Committees on relevant issues. 

 Monitors activities related to the City owned landfill, hauled refuse, water and sewer 
utilities and provides recommendations to council on fee and policy changes.   

 Review matters relating to the development, use and conservation of energy and 
other energy related concerns both for the City and the community;  

 Review matters relating to environmental impact and pollution, including natural 
resources such as air, water, solid waste, including environmental impact and public 
health and safety. 

 Continue to investigate opportunities to incorporate renewable energy on municipal 
buildings and lands.  

48



Introduced by: Council Member Springer 
 Introduction Date April 10, 2018 

Public Hearing:  
Action:   

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-08 

  Page 2 of 4 

 
  
 
WHEREAS, the standing members of the Energy Committee’s term will transfer to the 
membership of the Public Works Committee however a new oath of office will be 
required;  
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor’s appointment of a council representative to the Energy 
Committee will become void.  
 
NOW, THERFOR BE IT ORDAINED, the City Council amends Bethel Municipal Code 
Sections 2.52.020.   
 
SECTION 1.  Classification.  This is a Codified Ordinance and shall become part of the 
Bethel Municipal Code.   
 
SECTION 2. Amendments. Bethel Municipal Code Section 2.52.025 amended as follows 
(old language is stricken, new language is underlined):  
 

2.52.025 Committees.  

A. There shall be a finance committee, a public works committee, a parks, recreation, 

and an aquatic health and safety center committee, and an energy committee for the 

purposes of gathering information, conducting research, advising the city council 

regarding matters within their purview, and performing any other such duties as the 

city council may refer to them from time to time. 

B. The authority of these committees shall be advisory and recommendations shall be 

made to the city council. 

C. These committees shall be subject to all provisions of 

BMC 2.52.020 through 2.52.170. 

D. These committees shall use Robert’s Rules of Order. Regular meeting of these 

committees shall be at least quarterly. Special meetings may be called at the discretion 

of the chairperson or by two (2) members of the committee. 

E. These committees shall each be composed of seven (7) members who shall be 

residents of the city; six (6) of which shall be appointed by the mayor, subject to 

49

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel02/Bethel0252.html#2.52.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel02/Bethel0252.html#2.52.170


Introduced by: Council Member Springer 
 Introduction Date April 10, 2018 

Public Hearing:  
Action:   

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-08 

  Page 3 of 4 

confirmation by the city council and the seventh (7th) member shall be appointed by 

the mayor from the city council as council representative. 

F. All seven (7) members of each of the committees shall be voting members. 

G. The terms of the appointments to the committees shall be for a period of three (3) 

years except for the councilmember appointment which shall be for a period of one (1) 

year. In the event of a vacancy, the mayor shall appoint a person to serve the 

remaining term and in the case of a citizen member, said appointment shall be subject 

to confirmation by the city council. 

H. If there are a total of seven (7) combined commissions and committees, one (1) of 

the members of the city council shall serve as a council representative on each of the 

commissions and committees. If there are less than seven (7) combined commissions 

and committees, the mayor shall not serve as a council representative to a commission 

or committee. 

I. Committee members can be removed from office for cause only, and removal is 

subject to an appeal by the member to the city council. 

J. A majority of each committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of 

business. Four (4) affirmative votes shall be necessary to carry any question. 

K. An agenda of meetings shall be prepared and published according to established 

rules of the city council. 

L. Permanent records, or minutes, shall be kept for all meetings held. All resolutions 

and minutes of each committee or a similar report shall be presented to the city council 

by a member of the council appointed to serve on the respective committee or, in their 

absence, by the city manager. The minutes shall be properly filed in the office of the 

city clerk and shall be open to inspection by the public.  

 
SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective upon passage by 
the Bethel City Council. 
 

50



Introduced by: Council Member Springer 
 Introduction Date April 10, 2018 

Public Hearing:  
Action:   

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-08 

  Page 4 of 4 

ENACTED THIS  DAY OF __ 2018, BY A VOTE OF _IN FAVOR AND_ 
OPPOSED.  
 
ATTEST:      __________________________ 
       Richard Robb, Mayor 
________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

51



Introduced by:

Introduction Date:

Public Hearing:

Action:

Vote:

ORDINANCE # 17-28 (k)

An Ordinance of the Bethel City Council Amending the Adopted Annual FY 2018 Budget

WHEREAS, the City of Bethel, Public Works Department, Division of Streets & Roads, applied gravel to the

streets in Bethel throughout the 2017-18 winter for maintenance and repairs;

WHEREAS, the Streets & Roads Division is facing a severe shortage of gravel at the present time;

WHEREAS, the Streets & Roads Division needs $50,000 in its FY 2018 budget in order to purchase the

approximately 833 tons of gravel it needs to make it to the next budget cycle.

WHEREAS, the Public Works Department recently discovered that it must pay the State of Alaska an annual

sewer lagoon permit fee;

WHEREAS, the annual fee paid in March 2018 was $5,220;

WHEREAS, the permit fee amount was not accounted for in the FY 2018 Budget and must be added now;

Section 1.  The following sums of money may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and

objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 2018 (July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018).

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

STREETS & ROADS

Budget modification (a)

Account # Increases Amount

10-66-771 GRAVEL 50,000

Total Increases 50,000 

Decreases

10-10100 CENTRAL TREASURY (50,000)

Total Decreases (50,000)

TOTAL Net Change to Streets & Roads Appropriations 0 

SEWER LAGOON

Budget modification (b)

Account # Increases Amount

51-87-724 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 5,220 

Total Increases 5,220 

Decreases

82-10100 CENTRAL TREASURY 5,220

Total Decreases (5,220)
TOTAL Net Change to General Fund Appropriations 0

WHEREAS, To fund Police overtime budget.

POLICE DEPARTMENT

Budget modification (c)

Account # Increases Amount

City Manager Williams

April 10, 2018

April 24, 2018

Be it Enacted by the Bethel City Council that the FY2018 Annual Budget be amended as follows:

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA

                    City of Bethel
Ordinance #17-28 (k)

1 of 2
52



10-61-502 OVERTIME 30,000 

Total Increases 30,000 

Decreases

10-61-501 WAGES 30,000

Total Decreases (30,000)

TOTAL Net Change to General Fund Appropriations 0

WHEREAS, To fund Police overtime budget.

POLICE DEPARTMENT

Budget modification (d)

Account # Increases Amount

10-61-721 INSURANCE 37,000 

Total Increases 37,000 

Decreases

10-61-602 GASOLINE 20,000

10-61-623 HEATING FUEL 8,000

10-61-683 MINOR EQUIPMENT 9,000

Total Decreases (37,000)
TOTAL Net Change to General Fund Appropriations 0

WHEREAS, to fund increases in wages and professional services and to budget for E-911 phone lines.

E-911 FUND

Budget modification (e)

Account # Increases Amount

41-50-501 SALARIES 3,000 

41-50-502 OVERTIME 2,000 

41-50-622 911 PHONE LINES 1,700 

41-50-669 OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 500 

Total Increases 7,200 

Decreases

41-50-512 EMPLOYEE GROUP BENEFITS 5,000

41-50-669 OTHER PURCHASED SERVICES 2,200

Total Decreases (7,200)
TOTAL Net Change to General Fund Appropriations 0

Section 3. Effective Date. This ordinance become effective immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS 10TH DAY OF APRIL 2018 BY A VOTE OF __ IN FAVOR AND __ OPPOSED.

ATTEST:

_______________________ ______________________________

Lori Strickler, City Clerk Richard Robb, Mayor

                    City of Bethel
Ordinance #17-28 (k)

2 of 2
53



 Introduced by: Peter Williams, City Manager 
Date: April 10, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-08 

    1 of 1  

    

   

CITY OF BETHEL 
 

 

Resolution # 18-08 
 

ADOPTION OF THE CITY OF BETHEL 
LOCAL HAZARDS MITIGATION PLAN UPDATE, AUGUST 2017 

 
 

WHEREAS,  the City of Bethel recognizes the threat that local natural hazards pose to 
people and property; 

WHEREAS,  undertaking hazard mitigation projects before disasters occur will reduce the 
potential for harm to people and property and save taxpayer dollars; 

WHEREAS,  an adopted Local Hazards Plan Update will be sent to the Alaska Division of 
Homeland Security and Emergency Management and the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency for their approval; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Bethel City Council, hereby adopts the 
City of Bethel Local Hazards Mitigation Plan Update, August 2017, as an 
official plan; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of Bethel will submit 
the adopted Local Hazards Mitigation Plan Update, August 2017, to the 
Alaska Division of Homeland Security and Emergency Management and the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency officials for final review and 
approval. 

 
ENACTED THIS 10th DAY OF APRIL 2018 BY A VOTE OF ____ IN FAVOR AND 
____ OPPOSED.  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ ___________________________  
Lori Strickler, City Clerk  Richard Robb, Mayor  
 

54



55



 Introduced by: Peter Williams, City Manager 
Date: April 10, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-09 

    1 of 1  

    

   

CITY OF BETHEL 
 

 

Resolution # 18-09 
 

SUPPORT FOR SFY 2018 COMMUNITY REVENUE SHARING 
PROGRAM FUNDING 

 
 

WHEREAS,  the sharing of State revenues corresponds with the Owner State concept, 
whereby natural resources owned by the State belong to all Alaskan 
residents and should be routinely shared; 

WHEREAS, the Community Revenue Sharing Program is used to distribute a portion of 
State revenues with residents statewide; 

WHEREAS, the Community Revenue Sharing Program is an essential source of revenue 
for Alaska’s communities, both large and small; 

WHEREAS, the City of Bethel received $160,089 in Community Revenue Sharing 
contributions in FY 2016; 

WHEREAS, defunding or reducing the Community Revenue Sharing Program will have a 
significant negative effect on the City’s ability to provide essential services, 
potentially forcing the City to eliminate critical positions, reduce essential 
services to help make up for the economic hardship;  

WHEREAS, the citizens of Bethel currently pay 6% in sales taxes, one of the highest 
sales tax rates in Alaska; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Bethel City Council supports continued 
funding of municipalities through the Community Revenue Sharing Program. 

 
ENACTED THIS 10th DAY OF APRIL 2018 BY A VOTE OF ____ IN FAVOR AND 
____ OPPOSED.  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ ___________________________  
Lori Strickler, City Clerk  Richard Robb, Mayor  
 

56



 Introduced by: Peter Williams, City Manager 
Date: April 10, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-10 

    1 of 1  

    

   

CITY OF BETHEL 
 

 

Resolution # 18-10 
 

SUPPORT FOR SFY 2019 COMMUNITY REVENUE SHARING 
PROGRAM FUNDING 

 
 

WHEREAS,  the sharing of State revenues corresponds with the Owner State concept, 
whereby natural resources owned by the State belong to all Alaskan 
residents and should be routinely shared; 

WHEREAS, the Community Revenue Sharing Program is used to distribute a portion of 
State revenues with residents statewide; 

WHEREAS, the Community Revenue Sharing Program is an essential source of revenue 
for Alaska’s communities, both large and small; 

WHEREAS, the City of Bethel received $160,089 in Community Revenue Sharing 
contributions in FY 2016; 

WHEREAS, defunding or reducing the Community Revenue Sharing Program will have a 
significant negative effect on the City’s ability to provide essential services, 
potentially forcing the City to eliminate critical positions, reduce essential 
services to help make up for the economic hardship;  

WHEREAS, the citizens of Bethel currently pay 6% in sales taxes, one of the highest 
sales tax rates in Alaska; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Bethel City Council supports continued 
funding of municipalities through the Community Revenue Sharing Program. 

 
ENACTED THIS 10th DAY OF APRIL 2018 BY A VOTE OF ____ IN FAVOR AND 
____ OPPOSED.  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ ___________________________  
Lori Strickler, City Clerk  Richard Robb, Mayor  
 

57



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  18-28 

Date action introduced: April 10, 2018 Introduced by:   PRAHS Committee 

Date action taken: 
 

          Approved                                 Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 18-28  

Direct the City Administration to prepare a request for proposal for the purchase and 
installation of playground equipment at Owl Park for the amount of money provided by AVCP 
RHA to restore the park.   

Route to:  Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 
 
 

City Manager  RFP not needed;  Playground equipment will go 
out to bid when equipment needed is agreed on. 

 

Attachment(s):  None 

 

Amount of fiscal impact:  Account information: 

x No fiscal impact  

 

The timeline to which the City will be able to review, purchase, ship and install equipment in 

time for summer use is becoming very short. This is a highly frequented park and for this park 

to not be functioning during the summer months is a concern.  

The Association of Village Council Presidents Region Housing Authority paid the City $80,000 

when the property transfer took place. These funds are to be used to revitalize the park and 

make it safe for kids again.  

The preparation of the RFP will not require additional funds, therefore there is not fiscal impact 

associated with this AM. Once proposals have been received and scored, Administration would 

present the Council with a contract for equipment and services at which time the financial 

impacts will be accounted for.    

58



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  18-29 

Date action introduced: April 10, 2018 Introduced by:   PRAHS Committee 

Date action taken: 
 

          Approved                                 Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 18-29  

Direct the City Administration to obtain a quote for the facilitation of renting a large wood 
chipper to chip the fallen trees in Pinky’s Park.  

Route to:  Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 
 
 

City Manager PW City has a $6,000 wood chipper purchased with  
grant funds for the Parks. 

 

Attachment(s):  None 

 

Amount of fiscal impact:  Account information: 

x No fiscal impact  

 

The City has cut brush remaining in Pinky’s Park, an industrial size wood chipper would allow 

the City’s property maintenance crew to effectively breakdown the shrubs left in the park while 

also providing ground cover where the trees once were as well as other low-lying areas around 

the park.  

Once there is a cost estimate, Administration should then facilitate the renting of a wood 

chipper at which point there will be a budget impact which may or may not result in the need of 

a budget modification.  

59



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  18-30 

Date action introduced: April 10, 2018 Introduced by:   Mayor Robb 

Date action taken: 
 

          Approved                                 Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 18-30  

Authorizing Administrative Leave for the City Clerk to Attend the Election Policy Working 

Group’s May 8 and 9, 2018 Meeting.  

 

Originator: City Clerk  

Route to:  Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 
 
 

 
  

 

Amount of fiscal impact: 
Airline Ticket: $217 
Per Diem: $120  
Hotel: $230 
Total: $567 

Account information: 
10-52-545 (Funds are budgeted) 

 

In April 2017, Governor Byron Mallott invited the City Clerk to participate in the State’s 
Election Police Working Group, the only representative from the Region. This group 
has been responsible for reviewing current election fiscal and policy challenges, 
creating a dialogue on topics that include voting technology, administration of 
elections, identifying potential cost saving measures while making recommendation on 
fiscal and policy related issues.  
 

The group has identified the following items as guiding principles in their evaluations:  
Maximized Accessibility, Coordination and Buy-in, Voter Satisfaction and Confidence, 
Security and Integrity, Voter Outreach, Cost Effectiveness, Longevity in the Solution.  
 

The group is working towards a hybrid vote-by-mail/in-person voting system. While 
there are still a number of unknowns, the Group will be recommending a vote by mail 
program where every Alaska voter would have a ballot mailed to them well in advance 
of the Election. The voter would then have the option to mail the ballot in, drop the 
ballot into a lock box, or bring the ballot to an in-person voting center.  
 

While we continue to work toward a solution that is right for all Alaskans, the Election 
Policy Working Group will next be focusing voting equipment and technology. As the 
facilitator of State Elections in Bethel, as well as the only representative from our 
Region, the attendance of this meeting and evaluation of the technology which is not 
possible through teleconferencing, is an integral part to ensure what is selected will 
work for not only Bethel’s election officials but for those working the States election all 
over the Region.  

60



1 
 

Capital Improvement Plan 

City of Bethel 

FY 2019 – FY 2023 

 

This Capital Improvement Plan includes pre-construction tasks (studies), construction projects, 
and the purchase of equipment that the City of Bethel can reasonably expect to complete in the 
five-year period ending June 30, 2023. The plan is separated by fiscal years to coincide with City 
budgets. It can be revised and updated anytime. 
 

Year 1 
FY 2019 (July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2019) 

 

CONSTRUCTION 

Police Communication Tower Cost: 340,000 
Purchase and install 90-ft. lattice communication tower on north side of the Police Station 
property. Remove communications antennas from KYUK Tower and install them on Police Com. 
Tower. Relocate emergency responder communication gear from GCI Com Shack on KYUK 
Property to Bethel Police Station. DOWL completing design and cost estimates. 
 
Need: Control over emergency responder communications equipment and antennas; save 

$400/mo. in fees currently paid to GCI for lease space in communications shack. 
 
Timeline: March 30, 2018 - October 31, 2018 
 
Funding: $100,000 Grant in-hand  
 $257,123 ? Homeland Security Program Grant (Applied 1/30/18) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Police Dispatch Center Consoles Cost: $400,000 
Purchase and install two new dispatch center consoles with computers, radio communication 
equipment, software, and related infrastructure. 
 
Need: Current equipment and software are out of date and no longer supported by 

manufacturer. 
 
Timeline: 10 weeks order to products received; 1 week on-site. 
 
Funding: $400,000 SHSP Grant (Applied 1/30/18) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Wheelchair Ramp at Public Works Building Cost: $40,000 
Replace wheelchair ramp that allows access to the first floor of the building. 
 

61



2 
 

Need: Current wheelchair ramp is not compliant with ADA requirements. Utility Billing 
Office being relocated to first floor. Public will need greater access. 

 
Timeline: 2 weeks (Summer 2018) 
 
Funding: $40,000 City (FY2019 Budget) Property Maintenance will construct ramp. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
City Cemetery  Cost: $28,000 
Expand City Cemetery by adding sand, leveling ground, and plotting grave sites. Additional 
fencing must be purchased and installed. 
 
Need: City Cemetery marked grave area is nearly full and must be expanded to allow more 

grave sites. 
 
Timeline: 1 month (Summer 2018) 
 
Funding: $28,000 City (FY 2019 Budget – Property Maint. will do the work) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Institutional Corridor Contingency Cost: $300,000 
Water pipe construction project that brings water from the City Subdivision Water Treatment 
Plant to YKHC hospital, DOC Correction Center, DHSS Youth Facility, and other large commercial 
users along the highway. 
 
Need: DOWL Engineer recommends that this funding amount be available for unforeseen 

contingencies as STG and Bethel Builders complete the construction of the water 
pipe. 

 
Timeline: June 15, 2018 – October 31, 2018 
 
Funding: $300,000 City (FY 2019 Budget) 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Streets and Roads Projects 
Ptarmigan Street – Delapp to Lulu Heron Cost: $91,200 
This project entails tearing up 1,660 ft. of rough asphalt and then capping the road with six 
inches of gravel. This project will require 996 cubic yards of gravel in 76 dump truck loads. 
 
Need: This rough patch of road is not on a planned paving schedule. It is in the City’s 

domain and can be repaired with a six-inch gravel overlay. 
 
Timeline: 3 weeks (Summer 2018) 
 
Funding: $91,200 City (FY 2019 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

62



3 
 

Ptarmigan Street – Delta Cottages to Tundra Ridge Cost: $157,200 
This project entails tearing up 2,835 ft. of rough asphalt and then capping the road with six 
inches of gravel. This project will require 1,701 cubic yards of gravel in 131 dump truck loads. 
 
Need: This rough patch of road is not on a planned paving schedule. It is in the City’s 

domain and can be repaired with a six-inch gravel overlay. 
 
Timeline: 4 weeks (Summer 2018) 
 
Funding: $157,000 City (FY 2019 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Schwalbe to Utaoug Circle Cost: $18,000 
This project entails building up the road with sand/topsoil and then capping it with six inches of 
gravel. This project will require 195 cubic yards of gravel in 15 dump truck loads. 
 
Need: This road is low and flat. It holds water, snow, and ice. It needs to be raised and 

capped with six inches of gravel.  
 
Timeline: 2 weeks (Summer 2018) 
 
Funding: $18,000 City (FY 2019 Budget) 
 

 PURCHASE Year 1 

Pick-up Truck for Planning Dept. Cost: $30,000 
Purchase new pick-up truck for use by Planning Dept. 
 
Need: Current expedition was an old police vehicle and is outdated and must be replaced. 
 
Timeline: Summer 2018 
 
Funding: $30,000 City (FY 2019 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Expedition for Police Dept. Cost: $50,000 
Purchase new expedition, outfitted with sirens, radios, and other equipment for Police use. 
 
Need: New vehicle would replace a 15-year old expedition with over 100,000 miles on it. 
 
Timeline: Summer 2018 
 
Funding: $50,000 City (FY 2019 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Side Dump Truck Cost: $110,000 

63



4 
 

Large side dump truck with 23 cubic yard capacity. 
 
Need:  A side dump truck is needed to support Landfill Operations: hauling sand for cover 

and berms from City sand pit to landfill; occasional use to haul gravel, deconstructed 
building remnants, brush/trees. 

 
Timeline: Jun 1 – Sep 30, 2018 
 
Funding: $220,000 City (FY 2019 Budget-Landfill Operations Budget 50-71) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Server & Computer Equipment for YK Fitness Center Cost: $30,000 
Purchase and install server and related computer equipment for the YK Fitness Center to 
establish a stand-alone network; facilitate data storage, control computer access, and ease 
transition from one company manager to another. 
 
Need: Currently there is no network, only individual computers; no records and information 

was available for Health Fitness when they took over management. 
 
Timeline: Summer 2018 
 
Funding: $30,000 City (FY 2019 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Land/Right-of-Way Acquisition Cost: $60,000 
Planning Department would oversee the purchase of land/right-of-ways, if needed, for City 
purposes. 
 
Need: City has no money set aside for land or right-of-ways and occasionally has need for 

same. 
 
Timeline: July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2019 
 
Funding: $60,000 City (FY 2019 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Plotter for Planning Dept. Cost: $20,000 
Purchase and install plotter in Planning Dept. 
 
Need: Current plotter is over 8 years old with no service arrangement. 
 
Timeline: Summer 2018 
 
Funding: $20,000 City (FY 2019 Budget) 
____________________________________________________________________ 
Mini Excavator for Port Cost: $86,000 
Purchase one small excavator [describe uses] 

64



5 
 

 
Need: There is a need to move rip-rap at the Small Boat Harbor, and clear brush, remove 

trees, dig ditches and other uses along waterfront.  
 
Timeline: Summer 2018 
 
Funding: $86,000 City (2019 Budget – Small Boat Harbor 52-55) 
 

Year 2 
FY 2020 (July 1, 2019 – June 30, 2020) 

 

 PRE-CONSTRUCTION Year 2 

Feasibility Study-Bethel Heights Subdivision $150,000 
Study would examine the Bethel Heights Subdivision water and sewer systems and determine 
the best options. Cost estimates would be included in the study. 
 
Need:  The need for replacing the water pipes in Bethel Heights is well documented. The 

gravity-fed sewer system has problems too that result in frozen pipes in the 
wintertime and non-compliance violations when thawed. A feasibility study by an 
engineer can help the City see phases and the costs associated with phases that can 
be accomplished with funding available. 

 
Timeline: 3 months 
 
Funding: $150,000 City (FY 2020 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Engineer Assessment -Public Works Building $50,000 
Determine the repairs needed to the Public Works building, especially the south-facing walls of 
the building. 
 
Need:  South Walls are showing exterior rust, interior wall rot is present. 
 
Timeline: 1 month 
 
Funding: $50,000 City (FY2020 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
City Hall Roof Assessment Cost: $15,000 
Professional assessment of the condition of City Hall Roof and the cost to construct a pitched 
roof. 
 
Need: City Hall roof has been leaking for over ten years. Band-aide patches have been 

temporary solutions. Flat roof design is part of the problem. 
 

65



6 
 

Timeline: 1-2 days 
 
Funding: $15,000 City (FY2020 Budget) 
 

 CONSTRUCTION Year 2  

City Hall Roof $300,000 
Construct new pitched roof for City Hall. 

Need: leaking right now; membrane beyond lifespan, over 10 years of leaks;  
 
Timeline: 1-3 months 
 
Funding: $300,000 City (FY2020 City Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Senior Center $155,000 
Repair damage done by vandalism so that building will be in usable condition. 

Need: Many exterior windows need to be replaced; interior windows, carpet taken out and 
new flooring installed.  
 
Timeline: 2 months 
 
Funding: $155,000  
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Bus Barn $500,000 
Replace foundation and lower building. Make it a gravel floor.  

Need: It’s a solid building with a failed foundation. City could move Streets and Roads 
Division into Bus Barn space after renovated. It would be used as an office and 
equipment storage (grader, sander, water spray truck). 

 
Timeline: 3 months 
 
Funding: $500,000 City (FY 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

The Avenues Piped Water & Sewer Cost: $2,940,000 
Construct water pipe from Youth Center to 6th and 7th Avenues to Willow Street; construct 
sewer pipe from Tundra Center to 6th and 7th Avenues to Willow Street. 
 
Need: The Avenues represent a relatively easy location to provide piped water and sewer 

due to their proximity to existing infrastructure; City must have a water/sewer 
project in order to purchase the 15 water and sewer trucks with USDA-RD 
grant/loan funding. 

66



7 
 

 
Timeline: Summer 2019 
 
Funding: $1,323,000 USDA-RD Grant (must be done in conjunction with The Avenues) 
 $1,617,000 USDA-RD Loan (must be done in conjunction with The Avenues) 
______________________________________________________________________________

Streets and Roads Projects 

 [Description] 

 
Need: 
 
Timeline: 
 
Funding: 
 

 PURCHASE Year 2 

Water Trucks (8) and Sewer Trucks (7) $3,648,098 
Purchase 8 new water trucks and 7 new sewer trucks with the largest tank size that meets 

DOT&PF specifications for highway use. 

Need: meet the DOT&PF-enforced requirements of “The Bridge Law” for axle weights on State 
Highways specs, and allow the City to haul the most we can with the size permitted.  
 
Timeline: February 1, 2020 – October 3, 2020 
 
Funding: $1,641,644 USDA-RD grant (45% of project cost; must be part of The Avenues) 
 $2,006,454 USDA-RD loan (55% or project cost; must be part of The Avenues) 
 

Year 3 
FY 2021 (July 1, 2020 – June 30, 2021) 

 

 PRE-CONSTRUCTION Year 3 

Design A-B-C Loops and Sewer Line $300,000 
 
 
Need: pipes outlived its lifespan, pitting, sewer lines cannot thaw and keep from freezing 
without being out of compliance, replace to run heat trace in them – to be in compliance with 
DEC. 
 
Timeline: 6 mos. 
 

67



8 
 

Funding: 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Design & Bid Documents for Courthouse Water Tank Retrofit $200,000 

Need: get rid of it. Cost to heat it. Want to hook fire suppression to main water; increase 
the size; in front of KYUK now. Consruction costs to be determined. 
 
Timeline: 2 mos. 
 
Funding:  

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Cost Estimate for Airport Area Water Tank $75,000 
Run water pipe from Institutional Corridor along highway to Airport Area Water Tank and fill 
station to be established on City property near entrance to Gun Range. PER/ER -  
 
Need:  Reduce the expense of hauling water to Kasayuli, Larson Sub., and Airport Area 
properties by establishing water tank and filling station. 
 
Timeline: 1 mo.  
 
Funding: $15,000 City―FY2021 Budget 

 

 

 PURCHASE Year 3 

Dozer (“Pusher”) for Landfill Cost: $343,455 - $446,045 
Purchase large dozer that can  

Need:  City’s current Pusher is worn out and must be replaced. The pusher is necessary to 
push trash, flatten trash, and otherwise meet landfill operation needs. CAT 963K or 
equivalent. 

 
Timeline:  3 mos. 
 
Funding: $394,750 City (FY2021 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Pumper Tender Fire Truck  $585,000 

Purchase one pumper tender fire truck with 2,000 gallon capacity and pump rate capacity of 

2,000 gallons/min. 

68



9 
 

Need: Fire Department does not have a large pumper/tender and must rely on water 

trucks and a catchment basin for sustained water application. 

Timeline: February 2021 – October 3, 2021 

Funding: $585,000 City (FY 2021 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

End Dump Truck Cost: $75,000 

End dump truck with 10 cubic yard capacity. Will conform to DOT&PF highway axle weight 

requirements. 

Need: Current fleet of end dump trucks wearing out and must be replaced. 

Timeline: During FY 2021 

Funding: $75,000 City (FY 2021 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________
Dumpsters Cost: $30,000 
Steel 4, 6, or 8 yard dumpsters with plastic lids with lift pockets for easy use by dumpster 
trucks. 
 
Need: City must continue to order replacement dumpsters due to bottoms rotting out, 
damage from vehicle impacts, and rust. 
 
Timeline: 3 months 
 
Funding: $30,000 City (FY 2021 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Public Works Building Repair Cost: $TBD 

From assessment 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Streets and Roads Projects 
[Title here] 
[Description] 
 
Need: 
 
Timeline: 
 
Funding: 

69



10 
 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
Fences for landfill $50,000 

On top of berms; fencing. TBD footage. Security fencing. 

Need: could be a requirement. DEC. community. 

Timeline: 

Funding: 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ford 150 pick-up trucks - $30,000 one per year, Year 1, 2, 3 

 

Year 4 
FY 2021 (July 1, 2021 – June 30, 2022) 

 

 PRE-CONSTRUCTION Year 4 

[Title here] 
[Description] 
 
Need: 
 
Timeline: 
 
Funding: 
 
 

 CONSTRUCTION Year 4  

[Title here] 
[Description] 
 
Need: 
 
Timeline: 
 
Funding: 
 
 

 PURCHASE Year 4 

End Dump Truck Cost: $75,000 

70



11 
 

End dump truck with 10 cubic yard capacity. Will conform to DOT&PF highway axle weight 

requirements. 

Need: Current fleet of end dump trucks wearing out and must be replaced. 

Timeline: During FY 2021 

Funding: $75,000 City (FY 2021 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Dumpsters Cost: $30,000 
Steel 4, 6, or 8 yard dumpsters with plastic lids with lift pockets for easy use by dumpster 
trucks. 
 
Need: City must continue to order replacement dumpsters due to bottoms rotting out, 
damage from vehicle impacts, and rust. 
 
Timeline: 3 months 
 
Funding: $30,000 City (FY 2021 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Ford F-150 or Equivalent Pick-up Trucks Cost: $30,000 
Purchase Ford F-150 or equivalent pick-up truck for use by various departments as part of fleet 
replacement plan. 
 
Need: City needs a regular fleet replacement schedule for its heavier duty pick-up trucks. 
 
Timeline: 2 months 
 
Funding: $30,000 City (FY 2021 Budget) 
 

Year 5 
FY 2021 (July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2023) 

 

 PRE-CONSTRUCTION Year 5 

[Title here] 
[Description] 
 
Need: 
 
Timeline: 
 
Funding: 
 
 

71



12 
 

 CONSTRUCTION Year 5  

[Title here] 
[Description] 
 
Need: 
 
Timeline: 
 
Funding: 
 
 
 

 PURCHASE Year 5 

End Dump Truck Cost: $75,000 

End dump truck with 10 cubic yard capacity. Will conform to DOT&PF highway axle weight 

requirements. 

Need: Current fleet of end dump trucks wearing out and must be replaced. 

Timeline: During FY 2021 

Funding: $75,000 City (FY 2021 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Dumpsters Cost: $30,000 
Steel 4, 6, or 8 yard dumpsters with plastic lids with lift pockets for easy use by dumpster 
trucks. 
 
Need: City must continue to order replacement dumpsters due to bottoms rotting out, 
damage from vehicle impacts, and rust. 
 
Timeline: 3 months 
 
Funding: $30,000 City (FY 2021 Budget) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
[Title here] 
[Description] 
 
Need: 
 
Timeline: 
 

72



13 
 

Funding: 
 
[Title here] 
[Description] 
 
Need: 
 
Timeline: 
 
Funding: 
 
 
 

73



 

Mayor’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

74



75



76



77



78



 

City Manager’s Report 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

79



 
CITY OF BETHEL 

P.O. Box 388 
Bethel, Alaska  99559 

Ph. (907) 543-4150 
Fax (907) 543-3817 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

DATE: 

 

March 21, 2018, to April 6, 2018 

 

  
TO: 

 
City Council 

 
FROM: 

 
Peter Williams, City Manager 

RE: Managers’ Report 
  

  

March 21- Meet with USCG over the phone to discuss training for oil spills and spills in 

general; Citizen complaint; PSTC agenda; Council Packet; approved FEMA training for 

the City Planner; Received letter from the AKDOT’s Chief of Maintenance acknowledging 

the condition of the Ch.Eddie Hoffman Highway: Reviewed Healthfit contract. Work on 

the CIP. 

 

March 22; Helped find supporting material for the Parks and Recs. Committee; The Risk 

Manager and I discussed fire extinguishers, worker compensation, the need for city 

employees to be certified to handle Hazardous Materials; Reviewed Pole Agreement; 

Found info for courthouse RFP; reviewed files; Sen. Hoffman has requested that any 

further discussions concerning the CEH with the DOT include him. 

 

March 23-Receive MOA from DOT for the CEH.-Forward contract too CA with 

Intellichoice, Inc. that was signed in 2009, sent to for review. This for the software for the 

911 system at the Police Dept..- Tec-Pro Electrical contract attachments; Courthouse RFP 

criteria; discussed the Risk Manager insurance claims involving the public; 

 

March 26-Discussed the CEH with  Bob Anderson, DOT’s chief of maintenance and in a 

separate conversation the same subject with Rep. Zulkosky; discussed the RFP for the 

courthouse; The needed for a resolution for the State of Alaska's’ Rev. Sharing program; 

Reviewed the detail ledger reading the YKFC expenditures. 

 

March 27 – Discussed the CEH with the DOT’s Chief of Maintenance, Bob Anderson, he 

will forward an MOU for us to discuss for the City to maintain the state highway;; Risk 

Manager and I discussed the insurance company’s role regarding claims against the City 

and OSHA compliance; -Union wage increases and the FY-19 budget;- Discussed with 

80



ONC and the City’s MOU for Pinkys Park;- Reviewed auditors request for information.-

Reviewed RFP for dumpsters.Signed Tec-Pro contract for electrical services. 

 

March 28- Review documents and discuss the process to impound vehicles with PD; DOT 

visited, and we discussed the situation regarding the highway;; FY-19 Budget with the 

Finance Dept and Public Works.; Funds transferred to the Poll Account. 

 

March 29-Letter to council regarding Caribou Traders; Port FY-19 budget; Ladder truck 

lease; Material for auditors; Material for Parks Comm.; Reviewed RFP for chemicals.\ for 

PW and YKFC. 

 

March 30- Signed AM for the CAG; Courthouse RFP: Airport Lift Station lease; Reviewed 

departments budgets; KYUK; Received Insurance for FD is a ladder truck; Tec-Pro; 

Worked with Fin. Director of FY-19 Budget. 

 

March 31; Worked with the Finance Director on FY-19 city budget. Cap.Imp. Plan 

 

April 1- Finished FY-19 City Budget, e-mailed to council members. Offered to obtain a 

hard copy if they wanted to look at the budget today.  

  

April 2- Reviewed Transit and CSP budgets and requests for budget modifications; Signed 

contract with STG for construction of the jetty at the sewer lagoon; Asked Risk Manager 

to look into the APEI Risk Loss Credit Program; BS&R meeting for Thurs. April 13th; Bo  

 

April 3- Discussed the ROW needed for the new school, Ayrapun Elitnaurvik, with the 

Planning and Pub.Wks. Depts.for the new school parking lot off of Ridgecrest Drive. 

Worked to finish Capital Improvement Plan. 

 

PROJECTS 

 
Institutional Corridor-  Four-thousand nine hundred eighty-six feet of pipe fused,two-

thousand three hundred fourteen feet of the pipe set on pile and strapped down, two 

thousand fourteen feet of pipe being installed with heat trace and hydro tested. Remaining 

materials on the spring barge has been ordered. Project ahead of schedule.We put three-

hundred thousand dollars into the FY-19  Budget to be used as a contingency fund. The 

one area of concern that is known is that 66 pilings are at water level or under water. An 

extra expense would be if we were to add an extension to the pilings in question. We still 

have approximately one-hundred eighty thousand dollars left to use if need be. 

 

Jetty/Sewer Lagoon- Signed contract with STG for construction of the jetty. Next step 

will be for the PM to arrange a pre-construction meeting 

 

.The Avenues- Waiting for the PER/EA to be completed 

 

Pinkys Park-Boardwalk- Discussed with ONC’s  WITH City Attorney to amend a=nd 

clarify the MOA with the City and ONC.  

 

PD – Asked the Police Chief to look into updating our 911 system so we can track 911 call 

from dispatch.- 

81



 

Ridgecrest Drive/LKSD-Received and reviewed plans on the proposed parking lot for the 

new school. The plan shows the driveway and part of the parking lot is on the City’s ROW. 

 

Tundra Ridge Road Realignment-   

 

Landfill Closure-  We are going to take soil samples and have them retested to see if the 

fill at the sand pit that we own will meet the requirements for the cover material for closing 

the landfill. 

 

PW Boilers- Design at 65%, reviewed and waiting for a structural report regarding the 

flooring. 

 

 

Lift Stations-  
 

Courthouse; RFP submitted on time to the Alaska Court System offering the Nora Quin 

Bldg. for use as a courthouse. 

 

 

DEPARTMENTS 

 

YKFC- Helped resolved some problems with finding valves to turn off the water to repair 

leaky showers.  

 

Finance Dept.- numinous discussions about the budget and personnel. We had one 

candidate for the Assitant Finance Director but the person left town after two 

interviews.The accounting firm Carmen Jackson is scheduled to start April 17 and will help 

finish the FY-17 audit. Accounting Spec. working on the sales tax hopes to be caught up 

by the end of April. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

82



83



84



Kuimarvik Meeting Minutes 
March 20, 2018-Yuut Elitnaurviat 

 
Meeting was called to order by Chairman Gene Peltola at 1:37 
 
Present:   Gene Peltola Sr.  Mike Hoffman,Yuut Elitnaurviat, Laura 
Ellsworth, KuC, Vivian Korthius, AVCP, Beverly Hoffman Lifesavers, Eric 
Evon;AVCP Housing Authority, Pete Williams;COB, Rick Robb;Mayor 
There was a quorum of 7 
 
Absent; YKHC, Calista, ONC, LKSD, BCSF At large Mary Peltola  and Kathy 
Baldwin 
 
Approval of Agenda:  Unanimous, Rick Robb made a motion , 2nd by 
Mike Hoffman 
Approval of minutes:  tabled 
 
YK Fitness Center Report:  included in attached Parks and Rec March 
agenda 
 
Lifesaver Report: Bev Hoffman reported the YK Lifesaver Fund went 
over $250,000 for the first time.  In 2017 over 20,000 was raised 
through cookie sales, pick click give, Bethel Gives, ice classic tickets 
sales, and other donations.    BCSF oversees the fund.   Lifesavers 
contributes 7 percent of the endowment fund to swim programs.    Bev 
explained that since the pool opened grants from the Lifesaver supports 
discounts on Saturdays, helps with beginning swim programs and 
special events and training.     Bev was asked to compile a report has to 
how many people especially youth have learned how to swim.    
,  
Bev also reported that there is a grassroots group meeting to promote 
the construction of Phase II of the Fitness Center, a multi purpose 
facility.   The community does not have access except for occasional  
Sundays for soccer, basketball and ultimate Frisbee.  The group reports 
at Parks and Rec meeting every month.  
 
History of Kuimarvik:  See attached.   Much discussion by members on 
the future purpose of Kuimarvik 
 

85



Vivian Korthius asked about Kuimarvik Structure and finances.  Bev 
reported that setting up Kuimarvik as a 501c3 was funded by Lifesavers 
& BCSF funds and pro bono work by Angstman Law Office.   Korthius 
believes that Kuimarvik should be the entity to bring community 
leaders together to push infrastructure that promotes healthy sober 
lifestyles in the Artic.   “Lots of potential using Phase I as part of the 
strategic plan for funding other infrastructure such as Phase II and 
other facilities.   Kuimarvik Leaders should be the lead on many infra 
structure issues including energy issues.  
 
Mike Hoffman talked about the Northwest Arctic Borough entities that 
meet regularly on projects in the region.  Mike felt Kuimarvik leaders 
could do more and Kuimarvik should meet 4 times a year and hold 
special meetings  as needed at the call of the chair.   Kuimarvik needs to 
move on to other projects now that the pool is built.   The Kuimarvik 
Board can represent much more.   
 
Gene Peltola asked that we revisit the Kuimarvik by-laws at our next 
meeting and amend them if needed to expand the vision.  Also 
supported quarterly meetings.  Gave some history on Kuimarvik 
formation.  
 
Both City Manager Pete Williams and Mayor Rick Robb expressed 
concerns about funding  and moving forward on Phase II, the multi 
purpose facility and other infrastructure.   Robb talked about the 
dedicated fund set up with the increased sales tax revenue  and that it is 
being used to offset costs of the  Fitness Center.   Bev Hoffman talked 
about the need for transparency as it is not clear on what costs are 
being attributed and who who approves removal of dollars from the 
fund.   The P&R committee has been trying to address that.    Pete  
Williams also talked about the importance of reviewing by-laws 
 
Gene Peltola asked Bev to forward the by-laws to all the members  for 
review   
 
History of Kuimarvik:  See attached 
 
Kuimarvik Compliance:   With the help of BCSF, we are in compliance 
as a 501c3 and have been kept up with paper work. 

86



 
Pick Click Give:   for the 2nd year Kuimarvik is part of pick click give and 
the funds are funneled to the Lifesaver Endowment Fund.   Bev reported 
that we are ahead of last years donations at this time 
 
Board Member Comments 
Mike Hoffman: we must work on Identifying Kuimarvik future 
endeavors.   Reiterated his comments earlier. 
Vivian Korthius:  Lots of potential with this group and we must move on 
developing strategic plan 
Laura Ellsworth:  Excited about the future of Kuimarvik  
Eric Evon:  Expressed the needs for healthy infrastructure and wants 
more support in pushing Phase II forward 
 
Rick Robb:  wants to have a good plan as to how Phase II would look 
 
Pete Williams:  commented on the importance of looking at by-laws 
 
Gene Peltola:  agreed with Pete  
 
Bev Hoffman:  thankful for Kuimarvik leaders involvement 
 
Date for next meeting:  July 17 at 1:30  meeting place to be announced 
 
Adjournment:   Mike Hoffman moved to adjourn, Laura Ellsworth 2nd 
Unanimous; Adjourned at 2:45  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

87



 

 
 

Management Team Reports 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

88



MEMORANDUM 

 

DATE:         04.01.2018 

TO:   Peter Williams, City Manager 

FROM:  Bill Arnold, Public Works Director 

SUBJECT:  Manager’s Report – 

 

Programs/Divisions 

 

Public Works Director:  

 

Hauled Utilities:  

The month of March for the Hauled Utility Dept. has really improved in 

services provided for the community of Bethel. 

We are still waiting in our oversize/overweight permits for these Hauled 

Utility Trucks and hope to hear from them soon. They are to be updated this 

month and it’s the end of the month. 

The services provided by our Drivers and the effort they all put into work has 

really helped. 

The routes are set to where each driver has about the same amount of houses 

for service by each driver and finishing about the same time everyone is done. 

The filing system has improved a lot in the past months since the last problem 

known where the new files kept deleting when saved. 

Safety is also improving in the Hauled Utility Dept. Vehicle checks and walk 

around are being done by each driver and concerns being addressed for 

Maintenance. 

There are fewer customers calling in about being skipped with the new filing 

system for the after hour call outs. 

The serviced route sheets that are emailed to the Billing Dept. are something 

new and should help to see what if being done in the Hauled Utility Dept. 

 

Utility Maintenance:  

 

Water Plant Operations: For the month of March we filed 9 noncompliance 

reports for improper discharge of mostly backwash waste. Utilities got the 

Main Liftstation up and running to full capacity. We are now back to normal 

operations at both Water Plants. We continue to file a monthly DMR report. 

We continue to do our monthly maintenance logs at both water plants and 

reporting to OEH. We also hold a daily safety meeting. 

 

89



Property Maintenance: 

 

Managers’ Report 2018 

Date: 03.30.2018 

From: Luis Lemus, Public Works Foreman   

To: Bill Arnold, Public Works Director  

Subject: Manager’s Report- 

Property Maintenance: 

For the month of March Property Maintenance Crew has worked in 38 work 

orders, emergency calls and call outs; to maintain the City of Bethel buildings; I 

will describe some of the most important ones and have a Work Orders Report list 

attached.   

 

          Public Works Building. Billing office renovation completed. 

Installed new emergency lights. 

YKFC Boiler #1 changed the high limit Aquastat; for boiler #2 Changed 

brass oil burner nozzle and replaced the ignition transformer; fixed the 

clothing spinner at family room.   

City Hall IT bathroom installed new floors. City Clerk fixed front door and 

rewired outlets; installed a gate for the front desk.   

Courthouse measured parking lot; replace emergency lights;   and check all 

the Fire extinguishers, EMC lights and smoked detectors.  

Utility Maintenance Crew Assisted with the artic pipe installation to get 

the water running back into the P.W. building. Insulated the utility box.  

Hauled Utilities installed reel extensions; change the water valve for the 

spray nozzle; installed Exit sign for the Billing office; Repaired a house 

entrance stairs guard real.   

Dog Pond Installed new emergency lights.  

Parks and Recreation: 

Owl Playground Scheduling the work for the Owl Playground Renovation for the 

spring 2018 by taking pictures; measuring the area and looking for venders to give 

us an estimates for a new playground.  

90



Road Maintenance: 

Streets and Roads, with the thaw start, we have been using the D1 gravel on the 

roads in order to keep the roads as smooth as we can. However, the pile is so low; 

we had to use, as little as possible in order to stretch it out. By doing this, we 

cannot do as good of a job, as we could have done if we had more D-1 gravel to 

use on the roads. 

 Streets and Roads, plowed out the snow at the city sand pit, so when the thaw 

starts it will give it a head start in thawing. By this, it will thaw to bare ground 

quicker and head start on the drying the mud out, so we can start hauling sand with 

the dump trucks. By doing this we can start hauling sand out of the sand pit a few 

week earlier.      

 Streets and Roads also got the big red steamer out of storage and did some 

maintenance worked on it so we can using it. We started steaming culverts on the 

26th of this mouth with it and the looks of it looks, as if we will have more to thaw 

this spring then the last two years. This will be an ongoing for the next two weeks 

or more.   

 

 

Vehicles and Equipment: 

Vehicles and equipment in vehicles and equipment out ALL THREE 

GRADERS ARE RUNNING however from my view only one being ran.    

 

Transit System:  

March is the end of the third quarter, January, February and March, and we 

had 5932 riders; 809 were paid elders, 324 paid youth, 1187 paid adults 

and 3621 that had monthly and day passes.  Of the 5932 riders, 517 were 

classified as ADA passengers.  We have ADA passengers who are deaf, 

blind, physically handy-capped, and mentally handy-capped.  Some require 

the drivers to get out and help them in and off the bus.  

The City has hired a “temporary” full time driver and he will be driving until it 

is determined when the regular full time driver will be able to return to work, 

hopefully very soon.    

I sent letters to the board member of ONC, YKHC, BNC, AVCP, and 

Calista asking them to help support the Bethel Transit System.  AVCP has 

been the only agency to respond and they were not able to help.    

We have submitted Budget Summary Invoices, July through December, to 

DOT and they have accept and paid July through December. At this time, 

91



the Finance Department has not close out the month of January and when 

they do, I will work on it.   

As you are aware, the roads, State and City, are in extremely poor 

conditions, it is no fault of the City’s Streets and Roads Department they 

keep trying to maintain them, not sure about the State DOT, and the buses 

are taking a pounding.  You turn out to miss a pothole and you hit two other 

ones.  When the buses slow down for the potholes it makes them 5-10 

minutes late for their next stop.  It is a challenge for the drivers to stay on 

time and at the same time not tear up the buses.  

 

 

Landfill / Recycle Center: 

 

The landfill is running smoothly, but we are headed into the muddy stage of the 

year. The landfill roads are coming apart fast and as every year at this time, it 

becomes a major challenge. In a short time the dumpster trucks have to start 

dumping in an alternate spot because they cannot get up to the working face. As 

usual, we will be dealing with this in stride and do the best we can with what we 

got. 

 

Staffing Issues/Concerns/Training:  

 

   

 

92



 

                CITY OF BETHEL      William F. Howell III, Fire Chief  

                             Fire Department                                P.O. Box 1388, Bethel, Alaska 99559  
                                  Phone: (907)-543-2131 

                  Fax: (907)-543-2702  
                                                                     bhowell@cityofbethel.net 

    
 
 

Celebrating 50 Years of Service 
  

      
 
    

DATE:  April 3, 2018  

            
TO:  Pete Williams, City Manager 
 
FROM: Bill Howell, Fire Chief 
 
SUBJECT: Management Report, March 2018 
 
 
Current Events 

  

 House Bill 176 (GEMT legislation), passed out of the House this month and is 
now in the Senate.  The Senate Health and Social Services Committee approved 
the bill and it is in Senate Finance for review.  The Department has been working 
with our District 38 delegation and the Alaska Fire Chiefs Assn. for the last 2 
sessions on this legislation.  We are optimistic that this will receive a quick 
approval from the Senate and make it to the Governor’s desk for signing this 
session. 

 The Department received a notice from Alaska OSHA regarding a complaint by a 
Fire Department employee(s) about turnout gear that has expired.  NFPA 1851 
states that turnouts older than ten-years must be retired form live fire use.  We 
are evaluating the complaint and have determined that at least four firefighter’s 
turnouts meet this criteria. The department responded to the inquiry and has 
addressed the concerns.   

 The ladder truck purchase is substantially complete with all Council and 
Management approvals in place.  The shipping date cannot be set until final 
settlement of the lease and purchase agreement. 

 The RFP for ambulance billing and collection services is published and will be 
reviewed after it closes on March 8th 

 

 

 

93



 

Community Planning/Preparedness 

 A meeting was held on March 14th at the LKSD District Office with the Police 

Chief, Fire Chief, LKSD IT and LKSD Safety: Parry Barr, to discuss emergency 

planning and community alerting through the Nixle system 

 The Department met with Accel Fire to determine fire hose connections for the 

roof of the Paul John Clinic building. 

Training 

 On 03/06/18 at 7:00 p.m. an EMT Meeting was held at the fire station. 

Responders reviewed emergency medications and their indications, 

contraindications, and dosages for administration to medical and trauma patients.  

 On 03/08/18, the Fire Meeting was cancelled. Additionally, the EMT Meeting for 

03/20/18 and the Fire Meeting for 03/22/18 were also cancelled during the EMT-

2 and EMT-3 Initial and Refresher courses.  

 The State of Alaska EMT-2 Initial and Refresher course was held at the fire 

station from March 19-24. Five responders completed the training. Some of the 

instructional topics included: intravenous and intraosseous access and fluid 

administration, emergency medications, and advanced airway access. 

 The State of Alaska EMT-3 Initial and Refresher course was held at the fire 

station from March 26-31. One responder completed his initial training and ten 

responders completed their recertification.  

 The Driver Training program information has been assigned to staff and 

volunteers. Multiple staff and volunteers have completed the online training and 

safety cone course with our ambulances.  

Responses 

 

 Between 03/01/18 and 03/31/18, the Bethel Fire Department responded to 171 
EMS and 7 Fire incidents. 
 

 During this period, 99 EMS incidents (57.8%) were alcohol-related.  
 

 On 03/06/18 at 4:50 p.m. medics responded to the area of Akakeek Street for the 
report of an unresponsive person. Upon arrival, the patient was found to be 
pulseless and apneic and CPR was initiated by medics. The patient was 
transported to the hospital. 

 

 On 03/06/18 at 9:38 p.m. medics responded to City Subdivision for the report of a 
child experiencing an allergic reaction. The patient was transported to the 
hospital. 

 

94



 

 On 03/12/18 at 2:41 a.m. medics responded to Ptarmigan Road for a request to 
assist Bethel Police Department Officers. Upon arrival, two patients were 
assessed and transported to the hospital. 

 

 On 03/12/18 at 12:48 p.m. medics responded to Ridgecrest Drive for the report of 
a person who was cold to the touch and unresponsive. Medics pronounced the 
patient was deceased with signs incompatible with life and left the scene to 
Bethel Police Department officers for the investigation. 

 On 03/16/18 at 7:03 a.m. medics responded to the YKHC Hostel for the report of 
a person experiencing a stroke. The patient was assessed and transported to the 
hospital. 
 

 On 03/19/18 at 10:16 a.m. medics responded to Napakiak Drive for the report of 
a person who was unresponsive and not breathing. The patient was found in 
cardiac arrest. Medics performed CPR and transported the patient to the 
hospital. 

 

Budget/Financial  
 

 The Department is operating within budget. 

 Our FY 19 was submitted on time to Finance. 

Grants  

 
 The Department applied for Assistance to firefighters grant for approximately 

$130,000 for firefighting turnouts and rescue equipment.  This grant has a 5% 
match. 
 

 The Department received funding through the volunteer Fire assistance program 
for $7,500, for three sets of firefighting turnouts.  This grant has a 10% match. 

 
 The Department applied for and passed the first round of approval the Phase 18 

Code blue Grant for $45,000 for the remount of Medic-5 to a new chassis.  Funds 
will be confirmed when the State budget passes in August of 2018. 
 

 The Department was awarded $7,500 in Code Blue grant funding for a new 
power stretcher for the new ambulance.  This grant is administered by YKHC’s 
EMS office; BVESA has committed matching funds. 
 

Staffing/recruitment 

 The Department has three vacancies, one effective April 13.  We are working 
quickly to fill the positions. 
 

 
 
 
 

95



 

Vehicles & Equipment 
 

 The new Ladder truck is ordered!  Thank you, Citizens of Bethel, Council 

Members and City management team.  This vehicle will protect the city for years 

to come. 

 The Code Blue committee has approved $45,000 to remount our 2003 Ford 

ambulance M-5.  An Action Memorandum is being prepared for Council to 

review.   

 Engine 3, our 1986 Grumman reserve pumper, is in service, most major repairs 
are complete and it can be used in an emergency. The vehicle is being restocked 
with equipment and we are adding a reverse camera. 
 

 Medic Six is still working great!  The crew is really enjoying the reliable new 

vehicle.  We are waiting for arrival of the new power stretcher and seek funding 

for a new set of extrication tools.  

 

FIRE DEPARTMENT VEHICLE STATUS 

Vehicle Type  Year Status 
Medic 4 Ambulance 1999 (Backup ambulance)In service Airbags repaired. 

Medic 5 Ambulance 2003 In service.  Frequent no starts/dead batteries.   
(Plan to remount to new chassis in 2018/2019) 

Medic 6 Ambulance 2017 (Frontline Ambulance) In service. Tires studded. 

Engine 4 Pumper 2013 (Frontline pumper) In service, Seat belt sensor 
silenced but still needing repair by V&E.  Ground and 
marker lights changed to LED to reduce 
maintenance. 

Engine 3 Pumper 1986 (Back up pumper) In service, Repairing pressure 
control valves and electrical.  Installing B/U camera 
Awaiting pump test.  In service for emergencies 
(Poor overall condition  needs replacement) 

Truck 1  Ladder 
Truck 

1980 (Frontline ladder truck) Out of service, Replacement 
is ordered. 

Tanker 1 Tanker  
(1500 gallon) 

1980 In service, runs poorly, needs tune up, Work order 
issued. (Undersized for Bethel, poor condition, needs replacement). 

Com 1 Pickup 2014 In service 

Com 2 Pickup 2004 In service. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

96



97



Memorandum 
Date: March 26, 2018 
To: Pete Williams, City Manager 
From: Bo Foley, IT Director 
Subject: IT Director’s Report 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 

March 2018 Current Events 

• MSA Server Installation: This month I was finally able to get a new server for city operations 
that had been budgeted for this fiscal year. This is a storage-space oriented server that should 
allow quite a bit of expansion going into the future, which will eliminate the need to buy new 
servers (until the hardware rotation of this machine comes due). Instead, all we will need to 
purchase are additional drives for the unit as needed if the city’s data storage needs grow for 
the next five years or so.   

• Fire Dept Wireless Swap: I had been trying to budget funds for the upcoming fiscal year to 
replace the wireless access devices at the fire dept. to match the ones I have installed at city hall 
for improved security and management. However, we found that the funds were available now 
and so I was able to procure that hardware ahead of schedule. I hope to have the equipment 
installed within the first couple weeks of April if not by the end of March. 

• Invoiced Email: It has long been my understanding from my predecessor that the subscription to 
our email system, Gmail, could not be billed and paid for in any other fashion than through a 
monthly credit card charge (something I know is typically frowned upon). However, I got in 
touch with Google and found that the city does qualify to switch to an invoiced style of billing. 
With this new information, I’ve taken the steps to change our billing style so that we will receive 
monthly invoices and the finance dept. can issue checks as normal. This should help in our 
bookkeeping efforts.  

• Risk Manager Hired: This month saw the addition of a new position at city hall, that of a risk 
manager working under Admin. We had a spare computer and so it was not difficult to get him 
integrated into city operations.  

• Additional MedVaults at Fire Dept: Last year the fire dept. launched the use of new medical and 
key vaults housed in select ambulances and fire trucks so that sensitive drugs or critical keys 
could be secured when out in the field. The vaults also allow for accountability with a digital 
signature trail of which users are accessing the vaults. This month I was able to assist in helping 
program a few more of those vaults joining the mix.  

• Caselle Version Update: This month saw the latest major version update to Caselle, 
implementing new changes to the various modules within the software. The upgrade took us 
from version 2017.11.147 to 2018.02.139.  

• Business-As-Usual: Beyond the above-mentioned items, the month has been fixing or helping 
with run-of-the-mill trouble tickets such as email, printing, Caselle access, and login problems. 
 
 
 
 
 

98



Memorandum 
Date: March 26, 2018 
To: Pete Williams, City Manager 
From: Bo Foley, IT Director 
Subject: IT Director’s Report 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

Future Plans 

• Continued Budget Preparation for FY19: My budget has passed through its beginning stages 
and now I will meet with council at some point in the coming months to further fine-tune any 
changes that might be necessary. 

• Other Dept. Projects: While I have planned for my own projects for FY19, many other 
departments are also gearing up for similar which will involve my help in recommending 
equipment, software, or simply attaining quotes. I will be working with my fellow department 
heads to this end in their preparations for FY19.  
 
 

99



 

 
 
 
 
 
To:  Pete Williams, City Manager 
From:  Betsy Jumper, Planner 
Subject: March Manager’s Report 
Date:   March 30, 2018 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

• Had a Planning Commission meeting on the 8th where the Ciullkulek Preliminary plat 
was approved as well as the AVEC special use permit for the Bethel Wind project.  

 
• A few residential site plan applications came in and were processed.   

 
• The budget was gone over with the City Manager and Finance Director. 

 
• Coordination of the Bethel Hazard Mitigation Plan. 

 
• Answer public’s questions on miscellaneous topics. 

 
• Research into City of Bethel property.  

 
• Spoke with Public Works’ Director and an engineer regarding the City of Bethel’s 

easements in the LKSD campus area.   
 

• It’s nice having running water and flush toilets in the building once again.  
 
 

100



CITY OF BETHEL 
Post Office Box 1388  

Bethel, Alaska  99559 

Phone: 907- 543- 2047 

 

 
 

“Deep Sea and Transportation Center of the Kuskokwim” 

TO:  City Manager 

FROM:  Human Resources 

SUBJECT: March Manager Report 

 

DATE:  Apr. 3, 2018 

 

Position 
Number 

of 
Vacancies 

(Average) 
Days 

Vacant 

Number of 
New 

Applications  

Number 
Hired 

During 
Period 

Number of 
Vacancies 
Remaining  

Applicants 
Still in 

Department 
Review 
Process  

Assistant 
Finance Director  

1 231 1 0 1 0 

Water and 
Wastewater 
Foreman  

1 449 1 0 1 0 

Dispatch 
Supervisor 

1 258 0 0 1 0 

Dispatcher 2 0 6 2 0 0 

Driver – Hauled 
Utility 

3 N/A 3 1 2 1 

Police Officer 2 N/A 3 0 2 2 

Mechanic II 1 63 0 0 1 0 

Accounting 
Specialist 0 0 4 1 0 0 

Transit Driver 0 0 5 1 0 0 

Port Attendant 1 10 1 0 1 0 

Firefighters/EMT 3 22 7 1 2 3 

 
TOTALS 15  31 6 11 6 

 

We currently have 8 job positions with a total of 11 openings. Here is the 

breakout and outline of actions taken: 

 
 

Ass’t Finance director: We extended an offer to a fully qualified applicant, but 
her personal situation changed and she is moving back to the lower 48. 

 
Water/Wastewater Foreman: open for a very long time. No progress to report 

 

101



  April 3, 2018 

  2 

Hauled Utility Drivers: We currently only have 2 openings for truck drivers in 
Hauled Utilities, we recently filled the one in Landfill. We recently received an 

application from a qualified driver from an outlying village who might work out.  
 

Patrol Officer: We currently have 2 openings for patrol officers. We extended an 
offer and received a commitment from a current officer in Kotzebue, he is 

scheduled to start Apr 4th. We also extended an offer from a previous City of 
Bethel officer who moved to Fairbanks for family reasons in December. He 

recently applied to come back on the 2 week on, 2 week off schedule. We 
expect he will accept this offer and hopefully be here toward the end of April. 

This will make them fully staffed for all funded CSP’s and Patrol Officers. 
 

Dispatch Supervisor: This position has been open 258 days. No progress. 
 

Dispatcher: Both of these positions have been filled after being empty for 

months. See note below in Program Updates. 
 

Account Specialist: We filled our last opening on Mar 12, the Finance 
Department is now fully staffed. 

 
Mechanic II: This position has been open for 63 days and we have received no 

applications from anyone with the right qualifications. 
 

Transit Bus Driver: We filled this position in early March and they are fully 
staffed. 

 
Port Attendant: This is a fairly recent opening. Not critical yet, but we are 

looking hard. 
 

Firefighters: We had 3 firefighters leave the Department in March. We hired one 

new firefighter, and have received some applications to fill the other positions. 

 

Program Updates 

Mar 20, 2018, we successfully completed our first OJT program working 

through the State of Alaska. Ryen Christiansen successfully obtained his CDL 
and the State paid ½ of his salary for the 4 weeks he was in training, the 

cost of taking the test, the fee to process his license and bought gloves and 
cold weather gear. With the success of this initial venture, I looked for other 

opportunities. We have had multiple openings in 911 dispatch since I got 
here, so I broadened our search and hired 2 applicants on Mar 26th. I placed 

these 2 individuals in an OJT program through the State for 10 weeks to 
train them to become qualified dispatchers. Again, the State will pay for ½ 

102



  April 3, 2018 

  3 

their salary during this 10 week training, saving the City about $8,000. I will 

continue to look for opportunities to use this program when it makes sense. 

 

Alaska State DOT has notified us they are coming out to Bethel this month 

to conduct training for us and other DOT customers in town. I specifically 
requested training for supervisors and managers to help them determine 

when individuals are intoxicated, either alcohol or drugs. 

 

We are in the process of renewing our health care plan. More to come as we 

move along. 

 

Keith Henthorn 

Human Resources Manager 

103



 

       Bethel Police Department | P.O. Box 809 | 157 Salmonberry Rd. | Bethel, Alaska 99559 

                 Telephone 907-543-3781 | Fax 907-543-5086 | www.cityofbethel.org 

 

City of Bethel 

PPoolliiccee  DDeeppaarrttmmeenntt 
              
 

 

February 2018 Monthly Report 

 

 

Personnel: 

 

Officer M. Oulton completed his field training program and can now patrol 

on his own.  A currently Alaska Police Standards certified officer was hired 

and starts his field training on 4/4/18.  Since he’s currently certified he will 

not be required to go to a police academy.  One currently funded officer 

position remains vacant though an applicant is currently being processed.  

The unfunded lieutenant position and an unfunded officer position remain 

vacant.   

 

A dispatcher separated due to a family emergency.  However, two new 

dispatchers were hired and are in training.  All Public Safety Dispatcher 

positions are filled leaving only the dispatch supervisor position vacant.   

The CSP and CSO positions are all currently fully staffed. 

 

Operations: 

 

There were 1,778 calls for service the month of February. This is an increase 

of over 350 calls compared to February and nearly 300 more calls compared 

to March of 2017.  Investigations requiring reports are also up to 115 in 

March compared to 99 in February and 40 in March of 2017.  There were 14 

Felony investigations.  Two death investigations were conducted, one 

presumed natural causes and the other alcohol related.  BPD also 

investigated 18 reports of Domestic Violence.  One of those investigations 

resulted in an officer dislocating a shoulder while attempting to apprehend 

the offender.   

 

There were a total of 601 reports of intoxicated pedestrians in this period, up 

approximately 200 reports from February and 175 from March of 2017.   

 

  

104



 

       Bethel Police Department | P.O. Box 809 | 157 Salmonberry Rd. | Bethel, Alaska 99559 

                 Telephone 907-543-3781 | Fax 907-543-5086 | www.cityofbethel.org 

 

 

Animal Control: 

 

There were 40 animal control calls for service for the month and 40 calls for 

service for pound duties.  There was one report of a K9 bite that was 

investigated.   

  
 

 

 

105



Risk Management Report 

Summary of Activities for the month of March 2018. 

Three Priorities identified: 

 Incident management and promotion of General Safety 

  Incidents occurring in Public Works  

  Incidents occurring in Police Department 

  All incidents are submitted through the Risk Manager 

 Claims Management 

  Move claims from Finance to Risk Management   

Goal to reduce claims against the City 

 Request for Proposals/Request for Bids 

  Move the process for managing RFP/RFB’s from Finance to Risk Management 

 

From the start of employment on March 5 the following has been accomplished: 

Reviewed documents related to the background of the priority issues.  

 APEI Risk Management Review 

 Policies and procedures 

 

Review of all incident reports and accident reports dating back to November 2017: 

 Transitioning responsibilities for incident management from Finance to Risk Management.  

 Current incident reports were submitted to and are being processed by APEI.  

 Incident reports are now routed through the Risk Manager for processing. 

 The goal is to investigate incidents to determine cause and implement appropriate 

administrative controls and safety measures to prevent similar occurrences.  

 

Rapidly became involved in the processing of RFPs and RFBs: 

 Transitioning responsibilities from Finance to Risk Management and working closely with the 

Grant Manager and City Attorney. 

 Processed one RFB and am in the final stages of processing one RFP. 

 Have reviewed two RFBs and another RFP that are still in process for appropriate insurance and 

indemnification content. 

 Have been assigned limited Purchasing Agent responsibilities as related to RFPs/RFBs. 

 Goal is to become current with the procedures and work with staff toward any possible 

improvements.  

 

Reviewed all current claims: 

 Working with Finance to transition responsibilities for claims management and the City Attorney 

regarding legal issues. 

 Working with APEI to identify open claims and provide assistance to help resolve. 

  Goal is to reduce the frequency and severity of claims and manage minor claims internally in 

the best interests of the City.  Will be working with APEI towards this end. 

 

 

106



Safety: 

 Preparing for an unannounced OSHA visit sometime this summer. 

 Working with Buildings Maintenance Department, completed a Life Safety inspection of all City 

properties. 

 Building Maintenance has replaced all faulty emergency lights and we have a comprehensive 

inventory of fire extinguishers for replacement or re-inspection.  Order is nearly in process. 

 There are existing safety meetings being held in various departments on a daily or nearly daily 

basis.  Will work to expand these to all employees with the goal of qualifying for APEI’s Premium 

Credit Program.  May not qualify for this insurance renewal but will aim to have a program in 

place for the next year. 

 

Insurance: 

 Beginning to work with the Insurance Broker, Combs Insurance Agency and APEI on 

preparations for the insurance renewal starting in April. 

  

 

  

107



 

City Clerk’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

108



1 of 1 cityclerk@cityofbethel.net  

907-543-1384 

 

City of Bethel, Alaska 
City Clerk’s Office 
 

Council Meetings and Events 
April 10, 2018 Regular Meeting  

 
Request for Proposal for Courthouse Lease 
The office has spent hours working on the Technical Criteria 1 and 2 in coordination with the City Attorney 
and support from the Grant Manager.  

 
Burial Permits March 1-31 
5 Burial Permits have been issued and 1 Reservation.  
 
Passport Applications March 1-31 
29 Application Processed. 

 
Elections 
As with previous years, the City’s Regular Election falls concurrent to the AVCP Convention, which means 
the City is unable to utilize the precinct location in the front of the Cultural Center. We have a request in 
with AVCP to see if we would be able to utilize the museum space in the back of the building as we have 
done in previous years.   
 
The Office is working on a Kids Vote program.  
 
Otherwise, when time will allow the office is working on updating and organizing the October 2, Election.   

109

mailto:cityclerk@cityofbethel.net


 

 
 

Executive Session   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

110



 

Additional Information  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

111


	Approval of the Meeting Minutes
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Special Order of Business
	Unfinished Business
	New Business
	Mayor’s Report
	City Manager’s Report
	Management Team Reports
	City Clerk’s Report
	Executive Session
	Mayor's Report Church.pdf
	img-180404105444
	img-180404105557




